#### COA No. 329348

SEP 15 2015

DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF JOAN R. EIKUM

By and through its Personal Representative, JOHN J. EIKUM, and
JOAN R. EIKUM, By and through her Personal Representative,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

SAMUEL JOSEPH, D.O,

Defendant/Respondent.

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

**MARY SCHULTZ** 

Mary Schultz Law, P.S. 2111 E. Red Barn Lane Spangle, WA 99031 (509) 245-3522

Attorney for Appellants

### **

#### II. STATEMENT OF CASE

#### A. <u>Procedure.</u>

John Eikum, the widower and personal representative of the Estate of Joan Eikum, his wife of nearly 55 years, on behalf of Joan and her estate, filed a complaint for medical negligence and wrongful death against pulmonary physician Dr. Samuel Joseph. *CP 3*. "The Eikums" alleged medical care below the standard of care, and violation of Joan's right to informed consent.

The trial court dismissed Mrs. Eikum's informed consent claim after her case in chief. *RP 1127: 12-15*. The jury deliberated for four days before returning a verdict finding that Samuel Joseph did not violate the standard of care in his treatment of Joan Eikum. *CP 153* at Question 1. The jury was charged on October 3, 2014. *See* RP at 2341. The verdict was returned four days later on October 7<sup>th</sup>. *CP 154*. The Eikum estate files this appeal.

#### B. Evidence Presented.

#### A. John Eikum:

John and Joan Eikum married in September 1955. *RP 193*. Mrs. Eikum, hereafter "Joan," had been treated by a physician who had retired and recommended defendant Dr. Samuel Joseph as his successor. *RP 214-15*. John Eikum ("John") and Joan went along with this: "Well, when somebody recommends a doctor, you say 'Okay, that's fine, we'll do that,'

so we did." *RP 217: 11-12.* John and Joan depended on a doctor's advice. "The doctor told us what to do—we do it." *RP 218: 17.* Appointments which John attended consisted of Dr. Joseph communicating very briefly and doing chest x-rays, but he and his wife would never hear anything about the x-rays. *RP 223: 1 - RP 224: 15.* There were no (test) results provided. "No results. No communication." *RP 224: 15.* John remembered Joan performing a test where she was to blow into a tube, but she was unable to blow properly. *RP 225: 2-8.* Dr. Joseph had the results, but never discussed them. John stated, "I assumed that if there was something wrong, the doctor will tell you." *RP 225: 11-16.* 

John and Joan never saw the results of Joan's October 2008 "carotid duplex exam." *RP 227: 18-24; RP 229: 5-6.* Dr. Joseph never talked with the Eikums about any aspects of the test, or its suggesting the possibility of a "stenotic process." *RP 229: 5-12.* 

In and around Thanksgiving 2008 and Christmas 2008, Joan began fainting, a symptom known as "syncope." *RP 229: 17 – RP 231: 10.* When yet another syncope incident occurred in the first part of January, John took Joan to the Emergency Room. *RP 231-32.* The hospital's electrocardiogram (EKG) states on its face: "Abnormal EKG." *RP 235: 15-19.* The EKG report identified tachycardia with unusual paroxysmal,

rate 123, a right axis deviation, a right bundle branch block, and an inferior Q wave. *RP 235: 22 – RP 236: 8*. No one discussed the results with him. *RP 236: 9-11*. The ER visit was reviewed by Dr. Joseph by January 21, 2009. *RP 237: 9-14; RP 238: 9-13; RP 239: 20-21*.

Dr. Joseph's January 21, 2009 office notes of his visit with Joan reflect his knowledge of Joan's multiple bouts of syncope. *RP 237: 15-24; RP 238: 9-13.* She reported three such syncopal episodes since Christmas 2008. *RP 237: 19-24.* Dr. Joseph was aware of her Emergency Room visit on January 12<sup>th</sup>. *RP 238: 9-13.* He offered Joan no information. *RP 238: 21-23.* Dr. Joseph never discussed with the Eikums what is reflected in his notes; that is, that he was unable to determine the cause of her syncope. *RP 239: 25 – RP 240: 3.* He did not tell the Eikums that he planned to have Joan undergo a cardiac evaluation. *RP 240: 5-6.* Dr. Joseph did refer Joan for a Holter monitor test. *RP 240: 11-13.* Dr. Joseph explained that this test was cardiac related, and dealt with the heart's rhythm. *RP 240: 15-17.* Joan participated in the Holter monitor process. *RP 240-41.* The Eikums never received the results from that test. *RP 241: 20-21.* 

After Joan began experiencing syncope, John told Dr. Joseph what he had noticed at home - i.e., that Joan was fatigued and experienced

shortness of breath. *RP 921: 11-15*. Dr. Joseph responded, "Well, it's shortness of breath. That's got to be her lung function; her lungs aren't functioning properly." They were not told of any heart dysfunction suspicions. *RP 921: 18-21*. Joan was not offered any tests other than the "blow" test and the Holter monitor. *RP 923: 19-21*.

In March 2009, John and Joan returned to Dr. Joseph. *RP 243: 9-24.* Joan was considering whether to consent to an elective right knee replacement surgery. *RP 243: 21-24.* John Eikum could not remember the actual office visit in March 2009. *RP 243: 9-15.* But the appointment was identified in Dr. Joseph's notes as being an appointment for a surgical clearance. *RP 243: 16-24.* It was also characterized as a "routine follow-up." *RP 243: 16-20.* No concerns or risks of knee surgery were discussed with Joan Eikum. *RP 244: 24 – RP 245: 6.* 

Dr. Joseph never discussed with the Eikums that Joan's symptoms and tests raised the potential of heart disease and dysfunction, and that he had been unable to identify the cause of those symptoms and abnormalities, or that he had intended a cardiac evaluation for her to further investigate. John Eikum never did see the Holter monitor test report. *RP 924: 16-18*. Dr. Joseph did not suggest in any form that Joan had any kind of issue with her heart before the knee surgery. *RP 924: 12-*

15. Joan made the decision to elect knee surgery because "the doctor indicated that she was okay; ready for surgery. Joan had a knee problem and needed fixing, so we said, 'Okay, that's fine.'" RP 926: 1-7. There was no discussion beyond that. RP 926: 3-7.\(^1\) He testified: "If a doctor has cleared someone to do something, you expect that everything is fine. Had we known at the time of—had we been informed of the EKG and maybe the possibility that something was wrong, I'm sure we would have asked for a second opinion to make sure that it was safe for Joan to have the surgery." RP 980: 24 – RP 981: 15. John testified that had he known of Joan's abnormal cardiac tests—the abnormal EKGs and the Holter monitor—"she would never have had a knee replacement." RP 923: 24 – RP 924: 11.

#### B. Dr. Leslie Stricke:

Los Angeles pulmonologist Dr. Leslie Stricke is Board certified in

After the dismissal of the Eikums' informed consent theory of liability, Dr. Joseph would confirm this description of Joan's "consent" to Dr. Joseph's "ready for surgery" conclusion. After the Eikums' informed consent theory of liability was dismissed, Dr. Joseph would testify that his presurgical cardiac evaluation with Mrs. Eikum lasted15-minutes. *RP 1972: 20-24*. He told Joan Eikum—"You're ready for surgery. We'll see you back in six months. Continue your medications. Good-bye." *RP 1984: 15-20*. That was all he told her—"Ready for surgery. Come back in six months." *RP 1985: 13-22*. An echocardiogram could have been done "in a heartbeat." *RP 2063: 9-12*. All he had to do was to direct his staff to get Joan set for a referral. *RP 2063*. An echocardiogram was "an incredibly valuable tool," and he used it often. *RP 2076: 10-11*. But in Dr. Joseph's opinion, "[T]here was no reason to do any further testing, or any further instructions needed from me at that time." *RP 1985: 23 – RP 1986: 1*.

Internal Medicine and in Pulmonary Medicine. *RP 276-77*. Dr. Stricke testified that Dr. Joseph first violated the medical standard of care because he had notice of heart abnormalities and failed to pursue proper testing to reach a diagnosis—"there were symptoms and physical findings that needed to be investigated to their conclusion, which would require certain minimum numbers of standardized testing." *RP 291: 23-25*. That didn't happen. *RP 292: 1-3*.

Second, Dr. Joseph violated the medical standard of care by failing to share with Joan his plan for, and then his rejection of, a cardiology consultation. *RP 292: 4-20.* Even if Dr. Joseph felt it was unnecessary, that decision, testified Dr. Stricke, was Joan's decision to make. *RP 292: 14-20; RP 292: 24 – RP 293: 5.* It is "the right of the patient to hear what is available to the patient, why (the doctor) may think it's not necessary ... at the end of the day, it is the decision of the patient whether to have cardiology consultation, as in this case, or whatever testing is being explained to the patient, and that I may choose to feel is unnecessary." *RP 292: 4-20.* The patient "needs to be part of the decision, especially when one rejects tests that may have a significant impact on the patient." *RP 292: 21-23.* The phrase "reasonable prudence" within the definition of the standard of care means in part that any assessment that a physician makes

includes the risks and benefits of the surgery, and this must be communicated to the patient so that the patient (and often family) can make a decision whether they agree with the assessment that the physician would make.  $RP\ 288:\ 22-RP\ 289:\ 4$ .

Dr. Stricke testified that the phrase "informed consent" is used in the medical sense; it is part of the medical duty of care. *RP 292: 24 – RP 293: 4*. In advancing the standard-of-care management of the patient, medical decisions which are not always clear-cut have to be made. This duty of communication and discussion with the patient are important, not just because it is the patient's right to know why tests are going to be done or *not* done, but because it assists the physician's own medical decision-making in his carrying out the standard of care. *RP 293: 11-20*. Communication and the patient's opinion can change the physician's position itself. *RP 293: 9-20*. Such a communication has a "major bearing on the outcome of what happens." *RP 295: 7-9*.

Third, Dr. Joseph also violated the standard of care because he did not exclude the very heart conditions he was tasked with identifying. Dr. Joseph's pulmonary function tests did <u>not</u> exclude heart disease. *RP 298:* 9-11. His EKG measured the *rate* of the heart. *RP 302: 17*. The Holter monitor also is associated only with the rhythm of the heart. *RP 303: 6-*

Dr. Joseph possessed abnormal test results, and was aware of symptoms and tests which showed the presence of heart dysfunction. The standard of care required an echocardiogram, and that standard was violated. RP 318: 4-11. An echocardiogram test does a number of things, including examining heart valves, and the ejection force of the heart muscle. When a heart starts failing, "the echocardiogram can tell that information." RP 304: 3 - RP 305: 16.

a) <u>Dr. Joseph possessed a carotid duplex exam test, which showed the presence of *both* an atherosclerotic condition of the blood supply, and an aortic stenosis, and mandated an alternative test—an echocardiogram.</u>

In October 2008, just months before her fatal surgery, Dr. Joseph heard a "bruit" in Joan's neck. *RP 313: 16-19*. Such a bruit in the neck may signify aortic valve stenosis. *RP 315: 1-3*. The bruit could be a heart murmur. A competent physician would know this—"This is one thing that I think every person who has gone through cardiology is taught, and is aware of." *RP 315: 4-10*. Dr. Joseph himself had sent Joan Eikum for a "carotid duplex exam." *RP 318-19*. The carotid artery test did not show significant narrowing or obstruction of the carotid artery. *RP 319: 7-16*. What it *did* show was the possibility of a distal "stenotic" process. *RP 320: 6-9*. This meant that Joan "has atherosclerotic vascular disease—a

disease of the arterial system." *RP 320: 14-21*. The neck "bruit" was now revealed to be a heart murmur in the aortic valve. *RP 321: 3-11*. The standard of care now required an echocardiogram test. *RP 316: 6-10; RP 321: 3-18; RP 318: 4-7*. More specialized care was also now warranted. It would now be unfair for Joan to have to rely on a pulmonary physician for heart issues. *RP 322: 17-25*. Joan now needed a referral to a cardiologist or a vascular surgeon. *RP 321: 16-18*.

b) <u>Dr. Joseph was aware of Joan's syncope and shortness of breath symptoms, which also raised the risk of heart dysfunction and mandated an alternative test—an echocardiogram.</u>

Dr. Stricke testified that syncope stands on its own as a symptom of an aortic valve stenosis. Syncope in conjunction with a carotid bruit mandates that the physician be thinking of an aortic stenosis. *RP 341: 21* – *RP 342: 10*. Dr. Joseph was aware that Joan was experiencing syncope. *RP 341: 16-20*.

Dr. Joseph's records reflected both his carotid exam results, which raised the risk of aortic stenosis and vascular disease, and the reports of syncope, which also raised the risk of aortic valve stenosis and issues with blood flow. *RP 342: 12 – RP 343: 18.* With four bouts of syncope, the situation was dangerous and had to be taken seriously. *RP 344: 3-13.* Based upon Dr. Joseph's own notations in January 2009, the standard of

care required an echocardiogram and a referral to a cardiologist. *RP 350:* 17 - RP 351: 3.

c) <u>Dr. Joseph was aware of the Sacred Heart EKG taken on January 12, 2009, which was also abnormal.</u>

The EKG taken at Sacred Heart Medical Center in January 2009 also signified the existence of cardiac dysfunction. *RP 351: 14 – RP 352: 19.* This Jan. 12, 2009 test depicted tachycardia—a heart rate of 123 beats per minute versus a normal rate of 72 beats per minutes. *RP 352: 5-9.* The same EKG showed that Joan had heart conduction abnormalities, right ventricle blockage, and fascicular blocks. *RP 352: 10-11.* The EKG describes "conducting bundles within the conducting system that are not working," as well as an "inferior Q wave," which means that damage existed to the heart muscle. *RP 352: 10-19.* The EKG itself states right across its top that the electrocardiogram is abnormal: "abnormal EKG ECG." *RP 352: 20-22.* Dr. Stricke agreed that the test results were abnormal. *Id.* Even when Joan was in Dr. Joseph's office on January 21st, her heart again showed her in significant tachycardia at 120 beats per minute. *RP 355: 25 – RP 356: 7.* 

d) Dr. Joseph did not resolve the cause of Joan's symptoms or exclude heart disease. He wrote in his record that he did not know the cause of Joan's syncope: "syncope? etiol." *RP 356: 8-18.* 

Dr. Joseph did not exclude any cause for Joan's syncope. RP 356: 12-18. But he clearly suspected heart abnormalities. He planned on both a Holter monitor, and on referring Joan for a cardiology evaluation. RP 356: 19 - RP 357: 17. Although the Holter monitor was obtained, he did not refer her for the planned cardiology evaluation. RP 357: 16-17.

e) <u>Dr. Joseph possessed Holter monitor tests, which also</u> showed heart abnormalities and which test did not exclude heart disease.

The Holter monitor thereafter taken did not exclude valvular disease, ventricular dysfunction, or coronary artery disease. RP 358: 13-19; RP 360: 16-18. Such a test does not reflect what is going on in the heart valves, or show the actual function of the heart. RP 360: 20-24. What the Holter monitor did show was Joan's heart in tachycardia for over nine hours, and at an even higher level of tachycardia for over an hour. RP 358: 20 – RP 359: 7. It also showed "PVCs" – extra beats – which can become very serious. RP 359: 19-25. PVCs are not diagnostic, but of concern. RP 360: 8-10. The Holter did not exclude any of the risks already presented—valvular disease, coronary artery disease, or ventricular dysfunction—because it cannot reflect these conditions. RP 360: 11-24. Dr. Joseph had these results in his medical record. RP 361: 1-6.

f) Pulmonary function tests excluded asthma or COPD as the cause of Joan's shortness of breath, thus again raising the risk of heart dysfunction.

The "blow" tests performed on Joan by Dr. Joseph excluded the existence of asthma as potentially the cause of her breathing issues. *RP* 364: 7-13. The test results showed no evidence of significant asthma, and no evidence of significant COPD. *RP* 365: 16-17; *RP* 366: 13-14.

#### g) Chest x-ray.

Dr. Joseph also had chest x-rays of Joan Eikum. They did not exclude heart disease. *RP 369: 13-17*.

h) "Ready for surgery" without using the gold standard alternative test—an echocardiogram.

On March 12, 2009, Dr. Joseph evaluated Mrs. Eikum for presurgical clearance for her right knee replacement as requested by the orthopedic surgeon. *RP 368: 1-12*.

The primary issue for a presurgical clearance is heart health. *RP* 373: 18-20. This is because of stressors that are placed on the heart attendant to such surgeries, including not just that of the surgery itself, but the rehabilitation involved after the surgery. *RP* 372-73.

Dr. Joseph's presurgical clearance violated the standard of care. RP~373:~21-RP~374:~2. Joan's symptoms and test results were all left unexplained, and they needed further investigation. *RP 374: 5-7.* An alternative test—an echocardiogram—was indicated. *RP 374: 10-12.* Such a test would clearly show Joan Eikum's aortic stenosis, and a cardiology referral/evaluation would thereupon address the issue. "No cardiologist ... would assess severity of an aortic stenosis without an echocardiogram." *RP 374: 10-17.* 

Had Dr. Joseph simply referred Joan Eikum for the echocardiogram himself, not only would the aortic stenosis have been diagnosed, "but as well, the abnormal functioning of the left ventricle would be evidenced, leading to a cardiologist's involvement and a decision made as to further testing, including cardioangiogram to determine the severity or the presence of coronary artery disease. *RP 375:* 2-12. An echocardiogram here was "absolutely essential." *RP 376: 17-24.* The echocardiogram "is pretty much the gold standard." *RP 374: 18.* 

An echocardiogram is easily obtained, and inexpensive. It is only about \$250, and the test would have taken 10-15 minutes. The tests are readily available. *RP 377: 14-23*. Any practitioner can obtain such an echocardiogram. *Id.* The patient can either be referred out, or the service will come directly to a physician's office. *RP 378: 1-3*.

Dr. Joseph violated the standard of care by telling Mrs. Eikum she

was ready for surgery. *RP 377: 7-13*; *RP 378: 4-9*. He had failed to reach any resolution of any of the symptoms and test signs Joan had displayed. *RP 379: 18-20*. There was no exclusion of the known potential of aortic stenosis, ventricular dysfunction, or coronary artery disease. These investigations still needed to be done. *RP 380: 3-7*.

Dr. Joseph also had a duty to communicate the information in his possession, and he violated that duty. *RP 378: 22- RP 379: 5.* No evidence existed that any of Joan's test results, or concerns raised by such, were ever discussed with her. *RP 379: 13-17.* 

#### C. Dr. Jeffrey Caren:

Dr. Jeffrey Caren is affiliated with Cedars-Sinai Medical Center in Los Angeles, and Board-certified in Internal Medicine and Cardiovascular Disease. *RP 534, 536*. Dr. Caren testified that pulmonologists are not the ones who should be performing cardiology consults for patients. *RP 546, 547*. That is to be done by a cardiologist. *RP 547*.

Dr. Caren testified that Dr. Joseph violated the standard of care in his treatment and his presurgical evaluation of Mrs. Eikum. *RP 547: 12-19*. Dr. Joseph's medical duty in the presurgical evaluation was "to *identify her surgical risk* from a medical point of view, and he failed to do that." *RP 547: 24 - RP 458: 3, emphasis added*. Findings existed that

were not properly pursued, including Joan's multiple episodes of syncope and shortness of breath/dyspnea. *RP 548: 1-9.* Her carotid bruit, which turned out to be something different, was "just dropped there." *RP 548: 12-15.* Her abnormal EKG was not further evaluated. *RP 548: 17-19.* These symptoms and tests were consistent with coronary artery disease, but the existence of this disease was not further evaluated. *RP 548: 12-19.* None of the tests that Dr. Joseph performed excluded the possibility of any coronary artery disease in his presurgical clearance. *RP 548: 20-23.* None of the tests he performed excluded the possible aortic stenosis, or ventricular dysfunction. *RP 548-49.* The tests he *had* ordered raised the suspicion of the existence of those cardiac dysfunctions. *RP 549: 12 - RP 550: 11.* 

Dr. Caren explained that the January 12, 2009 EKG performed on Joan Eikum was "unequivocally an abnormal EKG." *RP 579: 9.* It evidenced a prior heart attack in areas supplied by the right coronary artery. *RP 577: 16 – RP 578: 10.* The 2009 EKG suggested the presence of a left ventricular dysfunction. *RP 578: 15-21.* The EKG did not exclude the presence of coronary artery disease or aortic stenosis. *RP 578: 6-10.* The "most benign" requirement of the standard of care for an Internal Medicine physician such as Dr. Joseph on seeing Joan's EKG

would be to get an echocardiogram. *RP 580: 1-6.* Other tests, such as a myocardial infusion study, could also be done with a deferral to an expert in the field – i.e., a cardiologist. *RP 580: 1-6.*

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