DEC 1 4 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

#### NO. 32934-8-III

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF JOAN R. EIKUM, By and through its Personal Representative, JOHN J. EIKUM, and JOAN R. EIKUM, By and through her Personal Representative,

Appellants,

v.

SAMUEL JOSEPH, D.O.,

Respondent.

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981 Timothy L. Ashcraft, WSBA #26196 FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC Attorneys for Respondent

701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4650 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 749-0094

#

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

The court in Anaya Gomez concluded that "Gates stands for the

proposition that patients have a right to be informed about a known or likely condition that can be readily diagnosed and treated." *Id.* at 626. But in *Gates*, there was no question that the patient's consistently high eye pressure readings over a two-year period pointed to a higher risk for glaucoma and that the ophthalmologist was well aware of those consistently high readings. Here, Dr. Joseph, based on his evaluation and testing, did not know, and believed he had no reason to suspect, that Mrs. Eikum had cardiac dysfunction. If he should have known or suspected it, that was a matter of possible medical negligence, not of informed consent.

Mr. Eikum, *App. Br. at 32-33*, nonetheless cites *Flyte v. Summit View Clinic*, 183 Wn. App. 559, 333 P.3d 566 (2014), claiming that it somehow reinvigorates *Gates* and supports his claim of error with respect to the dismissal of his informed consent claim. He is incorrect. *Flyte* did not involve a negligent failure to diagnose claim, but rather claims that the Clinic failed to provide informed consent by not telling a pregnant patient with flu-like symptoms about the H1N1 epidemic and public health alert recommendations for treating pregnant women prophylactically with Tamiflu, and breached the standard of care by not considering the possibility of H1N1 and offering Tamiflu prophylactically. The issue was whether the trial court erred in instructing the jury that a physician who misdiagnoses a patient's condition may not be subject to an action based

on failure to secure informed consent. Citing the five-justice concurring/ dissenting opinion that was controlling on the issue of informed consent in *Keogan*, 95 Wn.2d 329-30, which recognized that, even if no diagnosis had been made, a duty to disclose existed if the patient was to undergo a diagnostic procedure involving risk to the patient, the *Flyte* court concluded that the applicable case law did not sweep so broadly as to support the proposition that no duty to disclose arises until a diagnosis has been made and the trial court's instruction thus contained a clear misstatement of the law that was prejudicial. Nothing in *Flyte* alters the holdings of cases like *Burnet*, *Bays*, *Thomas*, *Gustav*, and *Anaya Gomez*, which factually are more closely aligned with this case.

To hold an informed consent claim exists under the facts of this case not only would violate the holdings and rationale of those cases, but also would turn nearly every alleged misdiagnosis or failure to diagnose case into an informed consent case. Here Dr. Joseph, based on his evaluation and testing, did not believe Mrs. Eikum had any cardiac dysfunction. If he violated the standard of care in coming to that conclusion, which the jury found he had not, then he could be held liable for medical negligence. But, he had no obligation to inform Mrs Eikum of treatments for, or further means of diagnosing, a cardiac condition he did not believe she had so as to impose failure to secure informed consent liability.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Allowing Testimony from a Learned Treatise Concerning the Revised Cardiac Risk Index Pursuant to ER 803(a)(18).

Mr. Eikum argues, *App. Br. at 37-43*, that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing questioning and testimony from a learned treatise concerning a "revised cardiac risk index," claiming that the learned treatise being referenced had to be, but was not, present in the courtroom,<sup>3</sup> and that the testimony as presented violated ER 803(a)(18), ER 1002, and ER 1006. Even if one ignores the fact that Mr. Eikum made no arguments below with respect to ER 1002 or ER 1006, and thus failed to preserve such arguments, Mr. Eikum is incorrect.

#### 1. Standard of review.

A trial court's admission of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion, which occurs if "discretion [is] manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons.". *City of Kennewick v. Day*, 142 Wn.2d 1, 5, 11 P.3d 304 (2000).

2. The trial court properly allowed testimony from a learned treatise concerning the revised cardiac risk index pursuant to ER 803(a)(18).

ER 803(a)(18) provides that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In support of this argument, *App. Br. at 38*, Mr. Eikum references Appendix "A" to his brief, which is nothing more than 27 pages of argument added to his already 48-page brief. This Court should not condone such use of an appendix to circumvent the page limits for opening briefs, and thus should disregard Mr. Eikum's Appendix A. *See also* footnote 6, *infra*.

To the extent called to the attention of an expert witness upon cross examination or relied upon by the expert witness in direct examination, *statements contained in published treatises*, periodicals, or pamphlets on a subject of history, medicine, or other science or art, established as a reliable authority by the testimony or admission of the witness or by other expert testimony or by judicial notice. *If admitted, the statements may be read into evidence but may not be received as exhibits*. [Emphasis added.]

The cardiac risk index was first drafted in the 1970s, was revised in the 1990s, and was published in a journal called "Circulation." RP 1032-33. The index looks at variables in a patient predictive of cardiac complications after non-cardiac surgery. RP 1032-33. "It is a standalone predictive index of complications after noncardiac surgery" and has "been incorporated into a larger algorithm" — the 2007 American College of Cardiology (ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines. RP 1132-33. The index is now incorporated by physicians into their preoperative evaluations. RP 1033.

At trial, the revised cardiac risk index was first addressed with Mr. Eikum's expert, Dr. Stricke, who testified, RP 441:

- Q Okay. Doctor [Stricke], you're familiar with the revised cardiac risk index; are you not?
- A I am.
- Q And revised cardiac risk index is a system devised to allow physicians to identify conditions that may make surgery contraindicated, noncardiac surgery; is that correct?
- A Correct.

Dr. Stricke then identified Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine as an authoritative treatise, RP 441-42, and was handed a copy of the revised cardiac risk index, as printed in Harrison's. RP 442-43; *see also* RP 620-29.

Although Mr. Eikum's counsel had a copy of what was presented to the witness, she objected to not having "the complete document," RP 444, and argued that it should be admitted into evidence. RP 444. The trial court, referencing pre-trial motions, denied that request. RP 444.

All of the questions Dr. Stricke was asked about the revised cardiac risk index were based on the excerpts from Harrison's that were presented to him. *See* RP 445-71. Despite Mr. Eikum's counsel's claim that she did not have the entire Harrison's book, the book was given to her after Dr. Joseph's counsel completed his cross-examination of Dr. Stricke. RP 485. During her re-direct examination, Mr. Eikum's counsel read excerpts and asked Dr. Stricke questions from the book. RP 485-91; 506-09. Pursuant to ER 803(a)(18), the trial court denied Mr. Eikum's counsel's request to show any portion of the book to the jury. RP 484.

The next day, Dr. Joseph's counsel asked Mr. Eikum's expert, Dr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> During argument on motions in limine, Mr. Eikum's counsel had agreed that, under ER 803(a)(18), statements from learned treatises could be read to the jury, but that the documents were not to be admitted as exhibits. RP 94.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The court noted that, if Dr. Stricke needed additional information, such as an additional document, he could ask for it. RP 445.

Caren, about his knowledge and use of the revised cardiac risk index. RP 610-13. Dr. Caren testified that he knew of the index, RP 610, agreed that it was within the standard of care to use the index, RP 612, but that he did not know the elements of it and did not use it in clearing patients for surgery. RP 613. Dr. Joseph's counsel asked Dr. Caren no further questions about the index and did not present a copy of it to him.

Mr. Eikum's counsel then again asked for the entire Harrison's book, which defense counsel no longer had in the courtroom, and for it to be admitted into evidence. RP 621, 24. The court declined to require defense counsel to retrieve the book for plaintiff's counsel, and noted that defense counsel's obligation was to provide the portions of it that he used in cross-examination, which he had done, and that, while statements contained in learned treatises can be read to the jury, the documents themselves could not be admitted as exhibits. RP 625-26.

Mr. Eikum's arguments that the trial court somehow violated ER 803(a)(18) are not well taken. First, defense counsel established that Harrison's was an authoritative treatise and that the revised cardiac risk index was a valid tool for evaluating patients. RP 441-42. As such, it was permissible under ER 803(a)(18) for defense counsel, in cross-examining Mr. Eikum's experts, to use excerpts from that learned treatise about the index, and have statements from them read to the jury, without the learned

treatise or the copies of excerpts being admitted as exhibits.

Mr. Eikum argues, *App. Br. at 38-41*, that the entire learned treatise must be present in the courtroom, but cites no authority that so states. *State v. Rangitsch*, 40 Wn. App. 771, 780, 700 P.2d 382 (1985), cited by Mr. Eikum, does not state that, when excerpts of a large treatise are used, the entire treatise must be available in the courtroom. Rather, it only repeats the general exception to the hearsay rule stated in ER 803(a)(18), which refers to "*statements* contained in published treatises." ER 803(a)(18)(emphasis added). While it makes sense that "statements contained in published treatises" being read to the jury would have to be in front of the witness, that does not mean that the entire treatise, as opposed to the pertinent excerpts of it need to be present in the courtroom. Indeed, even Mr. Eikum ultimately acknowledges, *App. Br. at 41*, that: "Statements contained in a learned treatise' must be present in the courtroom to be allowed through ER 803(a)(18)."

Factually, Mr. Eikum is also incorrect as the learned treatise at issue was in the courtroom. Both the portion specifically used and the entire Harrison's treatise were in the courtroom when Dr. Stricke was examined. RP 442-43; *see also* RP 620-29. Indeed, during her redirect of Dr. Stricke, RP 485, Mr. Eikum's counsel requested, and defense counsel provided her with the entire book:

MS. SCHULTZ: And I'm going to ask if I can use the book from counsel, Harrison's Internal Medicine.

THE COURT: Mr. King.

MR. KING: Your Honor, the problem is I'm not going to be able to have it, and we're going to run into a witness not having copies nor counsel nor the Court, so.

THE COURT: I'm going to allow her to use it. You can look at it. It seems to be an issue.

The next day, when Mr. Eikum's counsel complained that Harrison's was no longer in the courtroom, defense counsel responded, RP 622:

The material that was used in the examination of Dr. Stricke yesterday was provided to counsel. I gave a copy of the front piece of the treatise, the publication date and copyright date and the two tables that I used in my examination of Dr. Stricke yesterday to Ms. Schultz [Mr. Eikum's counsel]. So she has that.

And, as the trial court also noted, RP 624-25:

One, yesterday he [Dr. Joseph's counsel Mr. King] used the one page, the front of it and the middle page, which he gave the Court a copy. I still have it. You got a copy of it, and he had a copy that he, also, gave the witness. I do not believe he has to provide you the book. He has to provide you what he uses in cross examination while you were here in court.

That day, when Dr. Caren was on the stand, defense counsel did not present him with any printed material regarding the revised cardiac risk index. Despite this Mr. Eikum's counsel again wanted to see the entire book, which Dr. Joseph's counsel had not brought to the courthouse. RP 620-28. The court ruled, RP 629:

... then today you're saying well, if he's going to talk about it with this witness, I think he should provide the

book. If you make an objection and he doesn't have something to provide to the witness, then I'll let you object, and I'll rule on that objection, but I'm not going to order him to give you a book that, one, we haven't talked about today that he isn't trying to admit or trying to ask about. I'm not going to order his office to go get a book for you. So at this point, I've made my ruling. [Emphasis added.]

Moreover, multiple physician witnesses were asked about their knowledge and use of the revised cardiac risk index, a commonly used and well known tool. Mr. Eikum cites no authority suggesting that counsel must present some document to the witnesses before counsel may ask them about their knowledge and use of such an index. To the extent that anything was read, consistent with ER 803(a)(18) and with the portion being read made available to the witness, the court and all counsel. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling as it did with respect to the use of the learned treatise at issue.

3. Mr. Eikum waived any objection based on the best evidence rule, which is not implicated in any event.

Mr. Eikum argues, *App. Br. at 42*, that ER 1002 (the best evidence rule) was violated because the underlying 2007 article about the revised cardiac risk index that was referenced in the excerpts from Harrison's was not produced in the courtroom. Mr. Eikum, however never made any best evidence rule objection at trial, and thus any such objection has been waived. *State v. McKinney*, 50 Wn. App. 56, 66, 747 P.2d 1113, *rev. denied*, 110 Wn.2d 1016 (1987) ("A party may only assign error on appeal

based on the specific ground of the evidentiary objection made at trial."). Second, Mr. Eikum cites no authority suggesting that, before a party may ask a witness to read from an admittedly authoritative learned treatise, the party must make sure that any other authorities referenced in that learned treatise are in the courtroom.

## 4. Mr. Eikum also waived any objection based on ER 1006

Finally, Mr. Eikum argues, *App. Br. at 43*, that the trial court violated ER 1006 by allowing a defense expert to make a chart as he testified about the revised cardiac risk index. *App. Br. at 43*. Although Mr. Eikum does not identify in the text of his brief what chart he is referring to or provide any reference to the record, it appears from searching his Appendix A that he is referring to a chart drawn by Dr. Potyk discussed at RP 1043-44, and RP 1131.<sup>6</sup> *See* Mr. Eikum's Appendix A at A-15. But, Mr. Eikum does not cite any authority suggesting that it violates ER 1006 for a physician to make a chart illustra-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "According to RAP 10.3(a)(5), citations to legal authority and reference to relevant portions of the record must be included in support of issues raised on appeal." *Schmidt v. Cornerstone Invest.*, 115 Wn.2d 148, 160, 795 P.2d 1143 (1990). "Without adequate, cogent argument and briefing, this court should not consider an issue on appeal." *Id.* In much the same way that an appellate court is not required to search the record to find support for appellant's arguments, *In re Estate of Lint*, 135 Wn.2d 518, 532, 957 P.2d 755 (1998); *Fishburn v. Pierce County Planning & Land Servs. Dep't*, 161 Wn. App. 452, 468, 250 P.3d 146, *rev. denied*, 172 Wn.2d 1012 (2011), so this court should not be required to search Mr. Eikum's 27-page Appendix narration of contents of the record to find support for his arguments. Even if requiring the Court to search his Appendix A to find references to relevant portions of the record somehow suffices, he still has not provided adequate, cogent argument and briefing concerning his Rule 1006 argument, which he makes for the first time on appeal.

ting his testimony about how a revised cardiac risk index works or is used. Perhaps even more importantly, at the time Dr. Potyk drew his chart, Mr. Eikum did not make any objection based on ER 1006, and thus waived any such objection. *McKinney*, 50 Wn. App. at 66.

# C. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Declining to Give Mr. Eikum's Proposed Jury Instructions.

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